Atherosclerosis 237 (2014) 287-300

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Atherosclerosis

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/atherosclerosis



The emergence of proton nuclear magnetic resonance metabolomics in the cardiovascular arena as viewed from a clinical perspective



atherosclerosis

0 🚟

Naomi J. Rankin ^{a, b, *}, David Preiss ^a, Paul Welsh ^a, Karl E.V. Burgess ^b, Scott M. Nelson ^c, Debbie A. Lawlor ^{d, e}, Naveed Sattar ^{a, **}

^a BHF Glasgow Cardiovascular Research Centre, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, G12 8TA, UK

^b Glasgow Polyomics, Joseph Black Building, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, G12 8QQ, UK

^c School of Medicine, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, G12 8TA, UK

^d MRC Integrative Epidemiology Unit at the University of Bristol, Bristol, BS8 2BN, UK

^e School of Social and Community Medicine, University of Bristol, Bristol, BS8 2PS, UK

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 29 April 2014 Received in revised form 1 September 2014 Accepted 3 September 2014 Available online 30 September 2014

Keywords: Nuclear magnetic resonance (¹H NMR) Metabolomics Cardiovascular disease (CVD) Lipoprotein Mass spectrometry (MS) Biomarkers Advanced lipoprotein testing (ALP)

ABSTRACT

The ability to phenotype metabolic profiles in serum has increased substantially in recent years with the advent of metabolomics. Metabolomics is the study of the metabolome, defined as those molecules with an atomic mass less than 1.5 kDa. There are two main metabolomics methods: mass spectrometry (MS) and proton nuclear magnetic resonance (¹H NMR) spectroscopy, each with its respective benefits and limitations. MS has greater sensitivity and so can detect many more metabolites. However, its cost (especially when heavy labelled internal standards are required for absolute quantitation) and quality control is sub-optimal for large cohorts. ¹H NMR is less sensitive but sample preparation is generally faster and analysis times shorter, resulting in markedly lower analysis costs. ¹H NMR is robust, reproducible and can provide absolute quantitation of many metabolites. Of particular relevance to cardiometabolic disease is the ability of ¹H NMR to provide detailed quantitative data on amino acids, fatty acids and other metabolites as well as lipoprotein subparticle concentrations and size. Early epidemiological studies suggest promise, however, this is an emerging field and more data is required before we can determine the clinical utility of these measures to improve disease prediction and treatment.

This review describes the theoretical basis of ¹H NMR; compares MS and ¹H NMR and provides a tabular overview of recent ¹H NMR-based research findings in the atherosclerosis field, describing the design and scope of studies conducted to date. ¹H NMR metabolomics-CVD related research is emerging, however further large, robustly conducted prospective, genetic and intervention studies are needed to advance research on CVD risk prediction and to identify causal pathways amenable to intervention. © 2014 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ireland Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY

license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction	288
2.	Proton ¹ H NMR	288
	2.1. The theoretical basis of proton ¹ H NMR	
	2.2. Pre-analytical factors and sample preparation	289
	2.3. Data analysis of spectra from ¹ H NMR in metabolomics	289
	2.4. Advanced lipoprotein profiling (ALP) by ¹ H NMR	290
3.	3. ¹ H NMR and prediction of cardiovascular disease	
	3.1. A potential use for metabolomics and ALP in CVD?	294
	3.2. ¹ H NMR metabolomics and ALP studies in CVD	294
4.	Other considerations	295

** Corresponding author. RC214 Level C2, Institute of C&MS, BHF GCRC, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, G12 8TA, UK.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.09.024

0021-9150/© 2014 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ireland Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/).



^{*} Corresponding author. B4.18a, Joseph Black Building, University of Glasgow, Glasgow, G12 8QQ, UK.

E-mail addresses: Naomi.Rankin@glasgow.ac.uk (N.J. Rankin), Naveed.Sattar@glasgow.ac.uk (N. Sattar).

	4.1. Accurate quantitation and standardisation	. 295
	4.2. Cost-effective and high-throughput	. 295
5.	Mass spectrometry (MS)	. 295
	5.1. The theoretical basis of MS	. 295
6.	¹ H NMR versus MS	. 295
7.	Conclusion	. 297
Disclosure		. 297
	Acknowledgements	. 297
	References	. 297

1. Introduction

The metabolome is the entire small molecule (metabolite) complement of a system. Metabolites are generally defined as having an atomic mass of less than 1.5 kDa [1,2]. In humans, these metabolites can be exogenous (e.g. dietary or drug related), endogenous (substrates, intermediates and final products of chemical reactions), and derived from the effect of the microbiome. Metabolites include carbohydrates, peptides, lipids, nucleotides, amino acids, organic acids and many other classes of small molecule [3,4].

Metabolomics is the use of analytical chemistry methods combined with chemometrics for the study of the metabolome. Chemometrics, in turn, is the application of statistical and computational methods to extract data from experimentally derived spectra. The two most commonly used methods of probing the metabolome are: mass spectrometry (MS) and proton nuclear magnetic resonance (¹H NMR).

There are two ways of quantifying the metabolites in a metabolomics experiment, termed absolute and relative quantitation [5]. For relative quantitation the (normalised) instrument response to the metabolite(s) is used to obtain a measure of that metabolite which can be compared within that cohort or batch [5]. However, as these are not in SI units, it is difficult to compare groups to other studies or, within the cohort, fully understand the clinical importance of results. The second way of quantifying metabolites, absolute quantitation, is more stringent [5]: involving calibrators and numerous isotopically-labelled internal standards (IS) (depending on the method) [6].

There are two main methodological strategies for probing the metabolome: targeted and untargeted (global) methods [2,7]. In targeted metabolomics a pre-defined subset of metabolites are chosen and a particular analytical method optimised for that subset is used [7]. In non-targeted metabolomics, the aim is to identify and quantify as many metabolites as possible [8,9]. However, due to the diverse nature of metabolites in terms of their physio-chemical properties and dynamic range (ratio of highest versus lowest concentration: e.g. pM to mM) there is no single method that can detect all metabolites [3,8]. Targeted methods report fewer metabolites and are more likely to be hypothesis driven.

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) remains the leading cause of death worldwide [10]. Hypertension, smoking, diabetes mellitus and dyslipidaemia are major risk factors for CVD [11] and are incorporated into risk scores. Such scores are important in assessing treatment needs for primary prevention and are widely used. However, such scores are not perfect and researchers are continually working to improve these scores [12]. It is hoped that methods that probe the metabolome and lipoprotein profile could potentially be used to identify novel biomarkers or pathways for atherosclerosis, improve clinical prediction of CVD, and investigate the metabolic consequences of specific therapies or interventions [8,11,13,14]. This review will briefly outline the key methodological principles of ¹H NMR. We focus on ¹H NMR because of the recent advances with this method; its markedly lower cost in comparison to MS, resulting in an increasing number of clinically relevant studies using this technique, and the potential for clinical application, already being realised to some extent in the USA [9,15,16]. To illustrate the potential of ¹H NMR technology we will review some early gains in the cardiometabolic arena from ¹H-NMR-based studies. We also highlight the requirements that need to be met before ¹H NMR is widely adopted in epidemiological research and, ultimately, applied to routine clinical care. Finally, we briefly describe the benefits and limitations of ¹H NMR, making reference to MS as a comparator method. In so doing, we suggest the two methods provide complementary, rather than competing, methodologies.

2. Proton ¹H NMR

2.1. The theoretical basis of proton ¹H NMR

¹H NMR spectroscopy is a technique that exploits the magnetic properties of protons in order to obtain information about the structure of a molecule, and hence its identity [17]. The sample is placed in a strong magnetic field and electromagnetic radiation, in the form of radiofrequency pulses, is used to excite the protons (Fig. 1). As the protons relax back to equilibrium the energy is recorded as an oscillating electromagnetic signal, called the free induction decay (FID). This is analogous to a number of bells ringing out after they have been simultaneously struck – each frequency of each bell will be overlaid and they will decay together. This complex waveform (intensity versus time) is normally Fourier Transformed (mathematically deconvoluted) in order to produce a spectrum of intensity versus frequency [18]. This is analogous to separating out the individual frequencies sounded by each bell, identifying what all those frequencies were and how loud each one was.

The data are represented as a spectrum of peaks with chemical shift (δ), in parts per million (ppm), along the *x*-axis and intensity along the *y*-axis. The chemical shift is the resonant frequency of the nucleus compared to the nucleus of an internal standard (IS), normally tetramethylsilane (TMS) or a related compound. The distance (in ppm) between the resonant frequency observed and the TMS signal depends on the chemical environment of the proton, i.e. the molecular structure. Different protons in different parts of the molecule have a different chemical shift and molecules give a specific pattern of peaks, in terms of both the chemical shift and the intensities of those peaks (Fig. 2). Quantitative ¹H NMR (qNMR) is also achieved by comparison to the intensity of this reference peak (normally added to the sample at a known concentration), after taking into account the number of protons contributing to each peak.

¹H NMR is a versatile method, with different pulse programs available for optimisation of large or small molecules by enhancing or attenuating different signals (Fig. 2). For example, the



Fig. 1. Simplified diagram of a nuclear magnetic resonance spectrometer. At the heart of the ¹H NMR spectrometer is a superconducting magnet. This must be kept at 4 K, so needs to be emerged in liquid helium, which is prevented from evaporating by vacuum and nitrogen jackets. The probe, containing the RF coil sits in the bottom of the magnet within its bore. The sample is always contained within the ¹H NMR tube; it is gently dropped into the probe on a cushion of air. Here the superconducting magnet causes the protons to spin and the RF coil sends RF pulses to excite them and collects the free-induction decay as they relax back to equilibrium. The pulse programs are created using the computer and sent to the console, which acts both as a radiofrequency transmitter and receiver. The signals are amplified on transmission and receipt. The FIDs are Fourier transformed (mathematically deconvoluted) to produce ¹H NMR spectra of intensity versus chemical shift (δ) using the computer.

Carr–Purcell–Meiboom–Gill (CPMG) pulse program is used to identify small molecules in the presence of large proteins and lipoproteins [19]. In the CPMG sequence there is a longer delay between the excitatory pulse and the acquisition period. The large molecules (lipids and proteins) will have stopped spinning, whereas the small molecules are still spinning and producing an FID signal. This essentially renders the large molecules invisible on ¹H NMR. An analogy would be striking two bells at the same time but only recording the sound once the bell with the shorter ring has stopped ringing.

2.2. Pre-analytical factors and sample preparation

Care must be taken in any biochemical assay, including metabolomics, to avoid bias or artefacts due to variation in sample collection, handling and storage. Standard operating procedures should be followed [20,21]. The Metabolite Standards Initiative gives recommendations on the types of information that should be recorded, such as time of sampling, centrifugation and freeze-thaw cycles [5]. Samples for NMR metabolomics should be frozen immediately after processing (which should be completed within 2 h of sample collection) and long-term storage should be at ultralow temperatures (-70 or -80 °C) [22]. Minimal differences between plasma (lithium heparin) and serum have been observed [21,23]. Ethylene diamine tetraacetic acid (EDTA) and its complexes give contaminating peaks in ¹H NMR plasma spectra but obscured signals in these regions can still be identified and quantified by signals in other spectral regions, with the exception of citrate, free choline and dimethylamine [23,24]. The effect of different preparation and storage procedures vary by analyte and it is important to note that, in part because this field is relatively new, the effects are only recorded for a limited number of the metabolites that are increasingly quantified.

Serum or plasma samples are routinely mixed with buffer to minimise shifts due to pH. The buffer is usually inorganic and has deuterium oxide added for locking the magnetic field, imidazole as a pH indicator, azide as biocide and an IS for referencing the chemical shift and as a quantification standard [25].

2.3. Data analysis of spectra from ¹H NMR in metabolomics

There are two broad ways of dealing with the spectra obtained from ¹H NMR experiments.

1. Metabolite Fingerprinting (also known as the chemometric approach) uses the spectral pattern as a whole to determine the spectral features that are statistically different between sample classes (e.g. cases versus controls; exposed (e.g. to dietary, environmental risk factors etc.) versus unexposed; randomised to an intervention or not) [9,26-28]. This requires samples to have been collected and processed identically. It also often employs complex multivariate statistics, such as Principal Component Analysis (PCA) or Orthogonal Partial Least Squares -Discriminant Analysis (OPLS-DA). The spectral features responsible for the differences between the samples are then identified so that validation studies and biological interpretation can be performed [13]. This is the approach that, up to recently, had been taken by the majority of researchers using ¹H NMR metabolomics. An exemplar method, pioneered by Nicholson, is described by Dumas et al., 2014 [26]. Whilst this method can identify patterns of disease, and potentially separate cases from non-diseased controls, the complexity of the clinical interpretation required means it is difficult to relate these findings to traditional studies using routine biochemical measures. Although such techniques, with pattern recognition, can be used to diagnose disease (without necessarily knowing the identity of



Fig. 2. Typical ¹H NMR spectra of serum analysed with two different pulse programs. Nuclear Overhauser Effect Spectroscopy (NOESY in blue) experiment used for Lipoprotein quantification and Carr–Purcell–Meiboom–Gill (CPMG in red) experiment used to quantify low molecular weight metabolites. Insert shows the aromatic region of the CPMG spectrum. Spectra were analysed and interpreted using the Finnish method (35, 42). The broad resonances arising from methy and methylene groups of lipoprotein lipids depend on the composition and size of the lipoprotein and can be deconvoluted to quantify lipoprotein subfractions. Key: TSP; 3-(trimethylsilyl)-2,2',3,3'-tetradeuteropropionic acid; N-acetyl ¹H from glycans on Gp; glycoprotein (mostly α-1-acid glycoprotein); Leu: leucine; Ile: isoleucine; Val: valine; Thr: threonine; 3-OHB: 3-hydroxybutyrate; Ala; alanine; Arg: arginine; Lys: lysine; AcO; acetate; Pro: proline; Gln: glutamate; AcAc: acetoacetate; Cre: creatinine; His: histidine; Phe: phenylalanine; Tyr: tyrosine. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

the metabolite changes), researchers are becoming increasingly aware of the need to identify metabolites contributing to the altered region of the spectra in order to provide transparency and meaningful biological context [29]. Clinicians generally want to see these results in clinically meaningful (SI) Units.

2. Quantitative ¹H NMR Metabolomics (also known as metabolite profiling) involves quantifying a targeted set of metabolites [30]. Generally, identification and guantification are obtained with reference to a library of reference spectra of pure compounds [30]. One of the benefits of using identified metabolites (as opposed to metabolite fingerprinting) is that artefacts and metabolites affected by differences in sample collection or the spectral interpretation are less likely to be misidentified as discriminating between cases and controls [31,32]. Other qNMR methods include Advance Lipoprotein Profiling (ALP) [33]: the quantification of lipoprotein subclasses (their particle concentration and mean size). Another example is the method developed by Finnish researchers (referred to in this review as the Finnish method) and now widely published on by this group and related collaborators [34,35]. It combines ALP (described below) and gNMR of a number of metabolites and reports molar concentrations of each.

2.4. Advanced lipoprotein profiling (ALP) by ¹H NMR

Lipoproteins are thousands of times bigger than conventional metabolites and so their quantification does not come under the strict definition of metabolomics. However, due to their importance in disease, ALP is worthy of investigation within qNMR.

The need for more detailed lipid analysis, in particular in lipoprotein subparticles, has been a key goal with regard to CVD risk determination [33,36]. For instance, it is known that two people with the same Low-density lipoprotein-cholesterol (LDL-c) concentration can have discrepant LDL particle (LDL-p) concentrations due to variability of particle size and cholesterol content [37]. Small and large LDL particles may play distinct roles in driving vascular disease [38]. In Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA) participants with discordant LDL-p compared to LDL-c, LDL-p was more strongly associated with carotid intima-media thickness (cIMT) and CVD events than LDL-c (Table 2). HDL subclasses have also been linked to CVD risk, although the findings are more controversial, as recently reviewed by Superko et al., 2012 [39].

Both the Otvos and Finnish groups independently developed absolute lipoprotein quantification in the early 1990s [40,41]. The Finnish method now reports 14 lipoprotein subclasses [42]. The Overview of a subset of relevant studies where serum/plasma ¹H NMR was used in the investigation of CVD.

Study and brief design description	Numbers	Main findings	Method and reference
Interventional and experimental studies			
RCT in patients with T2DM and CHD given rosiglitazone or placebo for 16 weeks.	51 (25 rosiglitazone and 26 placebo)	↑ glutamine and ↓ lactate on rosiglitazone; see Table 2 for effects on lipoprotein subfractions.	Finnish; Badeau et al., 2014 [78]
Patients with angioplasty balloon- induced transient coronary occlusion	30 (20 patients and 10 controls); validation study of 30 patients with chest pain but normal ECG and Tnl	At 10 min: ↑ glucose, lactate, glutamine, glycine, glycerol, phenylalanine, tyrosine and phosphoethanolamine; ↓ choline- containing compounds and triglycerides; changes in total, esterified and non- esterified fatty acids; at 10 min ↓ leucine, isoleucine and alanine, but returned to baseline at 120 min; ↑ creatine after 120 min	Metabolite fingerprinting; Bodi et al., 2012 [27]
Exercise induced ischaemia in patients with suspected stable CHD.	31 (22 subjects with exercise induced ischaemia and 9 controls)	↑ glucose, lactate, valine, leucine, isoleucine and methyl and methylene signals from lipids in exercise induced ischaemia. The model correctly predicted 21/22 with ischaemia but wrongly classified 4/9 patients without.	Metabolite fingerprinting; Barba et al., 2008 [79]
Healthy individuals followed up for a median of 5.4 years	9843 adults; validated in 7503 adults	4 biomarkers (AGP, albumin, VLDL particle size and citrate) predicted all-cause mortality (including death form CVD causes) after adjusting for age, sex and conventional risk factors. A biomarker summary score improved AUROC for prediction of mortality in FINRISK from 0.80 to 0.83.	Finnish; Fischer et al., 2014 [80]
Myocardial energy expenditure (MEE) and ¹ H NMR metabolite profiling in HF patients.	61 (46 HF patients and 15 age-matched controls)	↑ 3-hydroxybutyrate, acetone and succinate in patients with increasing MEE (low, intermediate or high)	Metabolite fingerprinting; Du et al., 2014 [28]
Same-sex twin pairs with one active and one sedentary twin; 3 population-based cohorts also included.	16 twins pairs 1037 pairs from 3 population cohorts	↑ PUFA compared to saturated FA in sedentary individuals; ↓ isoleucine, AGP and glucose in active individuals.	Finnish; Kujala et al., 2013 [81]
Observational study with cIMT at baseline and 6 years	1573 adults (193 with impaired foetal growth, 1380 with normal foetal growth)	↑ omega-3 FA associated with reduced clMT progression in impaired foetal growth individuals only.	Finnish; Skilton et al., 2013 [82]
Observational study with clMT at baseline and 6 years	1595 young adults	Prediction of elevated clMT was improved by inclusion of ¹ H NMR determined LDL-C, medium HDL concentration, DHA and tyrosine (in place of routinely measured total cholesterol and HDL-c) (AUROC = 0.764 vs. 0.737)	Finnish; Wurtz et al., 2012 [54]
Patients with ischaemic stroke vs. healthy controls; cross-sectional study	101 (54 with stroke, 47 controls)	↑ lactate, pyruvate, glycolate and formate, ↓ Glutamine and methanol in ischaemic stroke	Metabolite fingerprinting; Jung et al., 2011 [83]
Patients with stable carotid atherosclerosis vs. controls; cross- sectional	19 (9 cases, 10 controls)	↑ acetoacetate, creatinine and 3- hydroxybutyrate, ↓ formate, alanine and proline; changes associated with measures of insulin resistance	Metabolite fingerprinting by ¹ H NMR and GC–MS; Teul et al., 2009 [63]
Hypertensive patients vs. controls; cross-sectional	80 (40 patients with hypertension and 40 normotensive controls)	AGP, choline or choline containing metabolites, urea and an unknown CH ₂ –CH group associated with hypertension.	Metabolite fingerprinting; De Meyer et al., 2008 [84]
Observational study of RCT cohort of T2DM patients with microalbuminuria/proteinuria followed up for 4 years	190 (95 cases of MI or sudden death vs. 95 controls)	Together with lipoprotein deconvolution, spectra were found to be poorly predictive for CVD in these patients, but may add value to classic CVD risk calculations	Metabolite fingerprinting; Roussel et al., 2007 [85]

Metabolite fingerprinting refers to ¹H NMR with multivariate statistical analysis [9,70]; the Finnish method is that of the Ala-Korpela group which performs both ALP and qNMR on the same sample (see Table 2 for ALP) [35,42].

Abbreviations: AGP – alpha-1-acid glycoprotein; AUROC – area under receiver operating characteristic curve; clMT – carotid intima-media thickness; DHA – docosahexaenoic acid; ECG – electrocardiogram; FA – fatty acid; HF – Heart Failure; MEE – myocardial energy expenditure; MI – myocardial infarction; PUFA – polyunsaturated fatty acid; RCT – Randomised controlled trial; T2DM – type 2 diabetes mellitus, TnI – Troponin I.

LipoScience (Otvos) method reports eight lipoprotein subclasses [33,43]. Both methods use the resonance of terminal methyl groups arising from phospholipids, cholesterol, cholesterol esters and triglycerides. The Finnish method additionally interrogates the resonance resulting from the multiple methylene groups found on these lipids [33]. The broad resonances arising from these methyl and methylene groups depend on the composition and size of the lipoprotein (Fig. 2). Lipids in small high-density lipoprotein (HDL) particles give resonances at a lower chemical shift (ppm). Conversely lipids in very low density lipoprotein (VLDL) give resonances at a higher chemical shift, with LDL and IDL subparticles in between [33,44]. Average lipoprotein particle size can also be calculated from the ¹H NMR spectra [33,44].

The LipoProfile panel has been commercially available from LipoScience Inc (Raleigh, North Carolina) since 1997 [33,44]. The LipoProfile test includes three measures; LDL-p and ¹H NMR

Table 2

Overview of a subset of relevant studies where ALP of serum/plasma using ¹H NMR was used in the investigation of CVD.

Study and brief design description	Numbers	Main findings	Method and reference
Interventional and experimental studies			
Dietary intervention with fatty fish, lean fish or lean meat for 8 weeks in patients with CHD	33 (11:fatty fish; 12: lean fish; 10: lean meat)	\uparrow ω-3 FA (including DHA), mean HDL-size and HDL content (total lipid, cholesterol and cholesterol ester) in the fatty fish group.	Finnish; Erkkila et al., 2014 [86]
RCT in patients with T2DM and CHD given rosiglitazone or placebo for 16 weeks.	51 (25 on rosiglitazone; 26 on placebo)	Rosiglitazone did not change lipoprotein profile; trends towards ↑ large-HDL-lipid, large HDL-c and very small VLDL-lipid observed. See Table 1 for effect on metabolites	Finnish; Badeau et al., 2014 [78]
Dietary intervention for 12 weeks in patients with metabolic syndrome	105 (37 on 'healthy' diet, 34 whole-grain diet, 34 control diet)	$\uparrow \omega_3$ FA, DHA and PUFA on healthy diet; Greatest increase in fish intake was associated with \uparrow large HDL-p, \uparrow mean HDL-size and HDL- lipid content	Finnish; Lankinen et al., 2014 [51]
RCT of intense lifestyle change or metformin to reduce new-onset DM in patients with IGT	1645 high DM risk individuals	Metformin: ↓ small dense LDL, ↑ small and large HDL; intensive lifestyle: ↓ large buoyant VLDL, small dense LDL and small HDL and ↑ large HDL,	LipoScience; Goldberg et al., 2013 [43]
RCT of simvastatin versus placebo in patients at high risk of CVD followed up for 5.3 years	20,021 adults	All 4 measures of LDL (LDL-c, non-HLD-c, LDL-P and ApoB) were equally strong predictors of CVD events in both the placebo and statin groups. Additional subparticle quantification did not add value; HDL-p/LDL-p and HDL-c/LDL- c were equally associated with risk (after adjusting for LDL-p).	LipoScience; Parish et al., 2012 [87]
Nested case control analysis of RCT investigating oestrogen and progesterone in postmenopausal women	708 (354 women with early CHD event, 354 controls)	HRT: \uparrow HDL-c ($p \le 0.00^1$) and HDL-p ($p \le 0.001$), \downarrow LDL-c ($p \le 0.001$), but did not lower LDL-p.	LipoScience; Hsia et al., 2008 [88]
Nested case control analysis of RCT investigating gemfibrozil for secondary CVD prevention over 5.1 years	1061 (364 men with CVD event, 697 controls)	Gemfibrozil: \uparrow HDL-c by 6%, no significant change in LDL-c, \uparrow LDL size by 2%, \downarrow LDL-p by 5% (especially small LDL-p (\downarrow by 20%), \uparrow HDL-p by 10% (especially small HDL-p (\uparrow by 20%), no significant change in mean HDL size. A 1 SD \uparrow in LDL-p was an independent risk factor for new CHD event (OR = 1.28 (95%CI 1.12–1.47). A 1 SD \uparrow in HDL-p was protective against new CHD events (OR = 0.71 (95%CI 0.61–0.81). The ratio of LDL-p: HDL-p was also significantly associated with CHD events (highest quartile vs lowest quartile RR = 2.4 (95%CI 1.8–3.3)	LipoScience; Otvos et al., 2006 [89]
Observational studies		iowest quartic KK – 2.4 (35%cl 1.8–3.5).	
Initially healthy women with 17 years follow up	27,533 women	24.3% of patients were discordant of LDL-c compared to LDP-p (defined by median cut- offs). Risk was underestimated by LDL-c in LDL- c < LDL-p discordant patients (HR 2.32 (95%CI 1.88–2.85). Risk was overestimated by LDL-c in LDL-c > LDL-p discordant patients (HR 0.42 (95% CI 0.33–0.53)).	LipoScience; Mora et al., 2014 [90]
Individuals with no history of CVD followed up for 10 years	1981 (145 cases, 1836 controls)	A computational model was used to calculate "lipoprotein metabolism indicators" (measures of lipoprotein production, lipolysis and uptake). "VLDL extra-hepatic lipolysis indicator" and "VLDL hepatic turnover indicator" improved risk prediction when combined with HDL-c and LDL-c compared to conventional risk factors (AUROC of 0.795 and 0.812 for conventional and improved models respectively).	LipoScience; Van Schalkwijk et al., 2014 [91]
Patients with CAD and coronary artery stenosis with low baseline HDL-c	160 adults	Small LDL-p correlated with CAD progression (% stenosis), independently of traditional lipoprotein measures.	LipoScience; Williams et al., 2014 [50]
Change in ALP association with change in ¹ H NMR derived fatty acid concentrations over 6 years.	665 adults	Baseline ω 3 FA (% total FA) associated with \downarrow mean VLDL-size and \uparrow mean HDL-size. Baseline ω 6 FA associated with \downarrow VLDL-size and VLDL-p; \uparrow LDL-size and \uparrow HDL-size. \uparrow in ω 3 FA was modestly correlated with \downarrow in VLDL-size. \uparrow in ω 6 FA was correlated with \downarrow in VLDL-p and size and \uparrow in LDL-size.	Finnish; Mantyselka et al., 2014 [92]
Observational study of high CVD risk patients followed up for 36 months	15,569 high CVD risk patients	Patients with established CVD or DM who achieved LDL-p <1,000 nmol/L had lower CVD risk (HR 0.75 (95%Cl 0.58–0.97) than patients who achieved target LDL-c.	LipoScience; Toth et al., 2014 [93]
Same-sex twin pairs with one active and one sedentary twin; 3 population-based cohorts also included.	16 twins pairs 1037 pairs from 3 population cohorts	Metabolome changes discussed in Table 1. Active individuals: ↓ VLDL and small LDL; ↑ large and very large HDL; ↓ ApoB: ApoA1 ratio; ↓ total TG and VLDL-TG compared to sedentary individuals.	Finnish; Kujala et al., 2013 [81]

Table 2 (continued)

Study and brief design description	Numbers	Main findings	Method and reference
RCT of rosuvastatin versus placebo with 1 year follow up.	10,046 asymptomatic individuals	Rosuvastatin: \uparrow HDL-p and size ($p < 0.001$). HDL-p was the only measure significantly associated with CVD in the rosuvastatin treated arm (after adjustment) and could potentially be used to monitor residual risk after statin therapy.	LipoScience; Mora et al., 2013 [56]
Individuals with T1DM with ~6 years follow up.	3544 adults with T1DM	\uparrow VLDL-c and VLDL-TG and \downarrow HDL-c were associated with \uparrow mortality.	Finnish; Makinen et al., 2013
Observational study of weight change over a mean of 6.5 years	683 adults	Individuals with >5% body weight loss: \downarrow in apo-B containing subclasses and \uparrow large HDL-p. Individuals with >5% body weight gain: \uparrow apo-B containing subclasses and \downarrow total and medium HDL-p. Strongest correlation between weight change and ALP was with VLDL-p and HDL-size ($r = 0.28$ and -0.32 respectively).	Finnish; Mantyselka et al., 2012 [95]
Observational study with cIMT at baseline and 6 years	1595 young adults	See Table 1 for prediction based on combined lipoprotein and metabolite concentrations.	Finnish; Wurtz et al., 2012 [54]
Observational study of CHD and clMT over 6 years of follow up.	5598 adults	A 1 SD ↑ in HDL-p was protective against CHD, even after adjusting for LDL-p and HDL-c. (HR 0.75 (95%Cl 0.61–0.93)). A similar pattern was seen with cIMT associations	LipoScience; Mackey et al., 2012 [96]
Observational study of CHD and cIMT over 6 years of follow up.	5598 adults	Patients with discordant LDL-p compared to LDL-c were identified. The number of CVD events was highest in those with raised LDL-p and normal/low LDL-c, intermediate in the concordant group and lowest in those with raised LDL-c but low/normal LDL-p. LDL-p was more closely associated with increased risk than LDL-c (HR = 1.45 (95%CI 1.19–1.78) and 1.07 (95%CI 0.88–1.3) for LDL-p and LDL-c respectively).	LipoScience; Otvos et al., 2011 [37]
Initially healthy women with 11 years follow up.	27,673 women	CVD events associated with ↓ HDL-size and ↑ VLDL. Small LDL-p and large LDL-p were both associated with ↑ incident CVD (adjusted HR (quintile 5 vs 1) of 1.44 and 1.63 respectively). Baseline ALP results could predict CVD, comparably but not better than standard cholesterol measures (particularly total-c: HDL- c ratio) or ApoB: ApoA1 ratio.	LipoScience; Mora et al., 2009 [57]
Initially healthy individuals with 6 year follow up. Observational study of T2DM patients with microalbuminuria/proteinuria followed up for 4 woors	2,223 (822 CAD cases, 1401 controls) 190 (95 MI cases, 95 controls)	CAD cases: ↓ HDL-p (adjusted OR 0.5 (95%CI 0.37-0.66), for highest vs lowest quartile). See Table 1 for results including lipoproteins.	LipoScience; El Harchaoui et al., 2009 [55] Metabolite fingerprinting; Roussel et al., 2007 [85]
Prediction of CHD death in men with Metabolic Syndrome over 18 years of follow up.	428 (214 CHD deaths, 214 matched controls)	↓ risk of CVD death in those with ↑ medium HDL-p (adjusted OR = 0.70 (95%CI 0.55-0.90). LDL-p (even small LDL-p) was not a long-term risk factor for CHD mortality	LipoScience; Kuller et al., 2007 [97]
<i>Non-diabetic</i> (at baseline) individuals, with median 5.2 year follow up	830 (130 DM, 700 controls)	Pre-diabetic individuals: ↑ VLDL-size and ↑ small HDL-p (adjusted OR for 1 SD ↑ = 1.52 (95% Cl 1.23–1.87) and 1.35 (95%Cl 1.10–1.67 for VLDL-size and small HDL-p respectively).	LipoScience; Festa et al., 2005 [98]

Two main groups perform ALP: the LipoScience group [33,41,43] and the Finnish (Ala-Korpela) group, who perform both ALP and qNMR on the same sample (see Table 1 for metabolites) [35,42]. See individual references for other studies.

Abbreviations: AUROC – area under receiver operating characteristic curve; DHA – docosahexaenoic acid; FA – fatty acid; HF – Heart Failure; HR – hazard ratio; IFG – impaired fasting glycaemia; IGT – impaired glucose tolerance; MI – myocardial infarction; OR – Odds Ratio; PUFA – polyunsaturated fatty acid; RCT – Randomised controlled trial; RR – relative risk; SD – standard deviation; T1DM – type 1 diabetes mellitus; T2DM – type 2 diabetes mellitus; TC – total cholesterol; TG – triglyceride.

determined HDL-c and triglyceride concentration in serum or plasma. It was approved by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 2008 [45] and the test is covered by some medical insurers in the USA [15]. However, the clinical benefits and the extent to which it is used in US clinical practice remains unclear.

Other ¹H NMR methods for ALP have also been developed, as reviewed by Mallol et al., 2013 [33]. Of particular note is the use of diffusion-edited ¹H NMR spectra (which use magnetic gradients to attenuate the signals from small molecules and enhance lipoprotein signals). Currently this method is not considered developed enough for use in clinical applications [33].

Traditional methods for lipoprotein analysis, such as density ultracentrifugation and gradient gel electrophoresis are laborious, costly, time consuming and potentially may have less robust reproducibility. They do not provide as many lipoprotein measures as ¹H NMR. Krauss et al. introduced and refined a method for lipoprotein profiling based on ion mobility spectrometry (IMS) in 2008/2009 [46–48]. IMS is a method for separation and detection of ions based on their mobility in a flow of gas, which is directly related to each particle's cross-sectional area. Lipoprotein profiling by IMS is available from Quest Diagnostics [49]. This method compares well with ¹H NMR, Gradient Gel Electrophoresis and Vertical Auto Profile Ultracentrifugation, in terms of identifying associations with coronary artery stenosis [50]. However it involves a 135-min ultracentrifugation step before analysis and particle loss during sample preparation must be accounted for [46,47]. One of the major assets of ¹H NMR metabolomics is its ability to quickly quantify the lipoprotein subclass concentration, as well as determine the total lipid, phospholipid, triglyceride, polyunsaturated fatty acids, total cholesterol, cholesterol ester and free cholesterol content [51]. Therefore many see ¹H NMR as a significant improvement in ALP.

3. ¹H NMR and prediction of cardiovascular disease

3.1. A potential use for metabolomics and ALP in CVD?

There are a number of risk calculators available to predict risk for CVD and determine whether a patient requires pharmacotherapy (statin treatment) and/or lifestyle guidance. These are frequently based on "classical" risk factors derived from epidemiologic studies, such as the Framingham Heart Study. More recent versions (QRISK and ASSIGN) use additional risk factors to improve prediction, such as postcode, a marker of social deprivation, and family history [52]. However, performance of these risk calculators can still be improved [12]. New methods for the identification of new biomarkers, or for measuring classical biomarkers, such as ALP, could add predictive value. In order to do this, it will be necessary to identify new biomarkers that are strongly predictive of CVD and that are not correlated (or very weakly correlated) with established risk factors and which therefore can enhance risk prediction beyond established predictors [53]. Biomarkers that correlate strongly with existing risk factors generally do not appear to meaningfully improve risk prediction algorithms for CVD [3,4]. An example of this phenomenon is the measurement of Apolipoprotein (Apo) AI and ApoB which, when studied in prospective studies (as opposed to case control studies), were found not to add to risk prediction beyond total-, LDL- and HDL-cholesterol measurements [36].

Improving prediction of CVD and hence being able to stratify people into different levels of risk and tailor treatment to those at highest risk does not require the predictors to be causally related to CVD.

3.2. ¹H NMR metabolomics and ALP studies in CVD

A number of studies relating ¹H NMR metabolomics and ALP to CVD are presented in Tables 1 and 2. These include intervention studies (with diet, exercise and medication), longitudinal cohorts and case control studies. Most of these studies could be described as early phase and 'hypothesis generating'. As such the clinical or pathophysiological relevance of many of the findings is still unclear. It is notable that most studies are relatively small in size and most have linked their metabolomics outputs to surrogate CVD markers rather than hard CVD end-points, though such studies are beginning to emerge. Furthermore, few studies have attempted to replicate findings in two or more independent cohorts. Given the early stage of this work, we provide below a selected summary of some of the larger and better-conducted studies. Together these suggest ¹H NMR may hold some promise for clinical practice, though it is important to emphasise that further studies will be needed to advance ¹H NMR to the clinical setting.

1. **Predicting CVD.** In a prospective study of 1595 individuals (24–39 years olds) with normal baseline cIMT or plaque score (part of the Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study (YFS)), Wurtz et al., 2012 [54] investigated the ability of ¹H NMR metabolomics and ALP (using the Finnish method) to predict incident plaque or cIMT \geq 90th percentile over a mean of 6 years. No single ¹H NMR biomarker increased prediction compared to established risk factors (age, sex, systolic blood

pressure, smoking, glucose, total cholesterol and HDL-c). However a combination of 4 biomarkers did improve risk prediction: namely ¹H-NMR-determined LDL-C and medium HDL-p, docosahexaenoic acid (DHA) and tyrosine. Comparing established risk factors alone to a model with replacement of enzymatically measured total cholesterol and HDL-c with the four new biomarkers, the Area Under the Receiver Operating Characteristic curve [AUROC] increased from 0.737 (with 95% confidence interval (95%CI) of 0.699-0.775) to 0.764 (95%CI 0.726-0.802), p = 0.02 [54]. Whilst these findings are of interest, the next steps would be to (i) externally validate this prediction model; (ii) determine the ability of this model to predict hard CVD endpoints; (iii) compare to models including other novel biomarkers that appear to improve prediction, such as the cardiac biomarkers brain natriuretic peptide and high sensitivity troponin T. In this way, researchers would be testing the ¹H NMR outputs not only against the established predictors but also the best of the emerging (non-NMR metabolite) biomarkers. A key consideration is the extent to which prediction of hard outcomes is improved and balanced by the cost of the new measurements.

- 2. Refining lipid measures for CVD prediction. The European Prospective Investigation of Cancer (EPIC) - Norfolk study studied 822 healthy participants who developed a first coronary artery event during 6 years of follow-up and 1401 matched controls [55]. They used the LipoScience method to demonstrate 3% smaller HDL-size and 1% lower HDL-p in cases. HDL-p remained independently associated with coronary artery disease (CAD) risk after adjusting for triglyceride, ApoB, C-reactive protein (CRP) and other markers of inflammation (adjusted odds ratio (OR) 0.50, 95%CI 0.37-0.66, comparing the highest to the lowest quarters for the HLD-p distribution). However, adjusting and matching for established CVD risk factors was incomplete: the authors did not control for prevalent DM, BP or LDL-c, all of which were different between cases and controls at baseline. The findings therefore need replication in other independent studies with a more complete assessment of established and other emerging (i.e. cardiac biomarkers) predictors.
- 3. On-statin treatment lipid measures and CVD. HDL-size and HDL-p, assessed using the LipoScience ALP method, were compared to classical biochemistry measures of HDL-c and ApoA1 in 10,886 participants without CVD in the JUPITER trial (Justification for the Use of statins in Prevention: an Intervention Trial Evaluating Rosuvastatin) [56]. Over 2 years of followup CVD events occurred in 234 participants. Those randomised to rosuvastatin, had a 3.8% increase in HDL-p and a 1.2% increase in HDL-size compared to placebo, providing evidence that ¹H NMR can detect treatment-induced changes in HDL-p and HDL-size. The associations of the four HDL measures (ApoA1, HDL-c, HDL-size and HDL-p), at 1 year, with CVD were analysed separately in the statin and placebo arms. In patients randomised to placebo, HDL-c, ApoA1, and HDL-p had similar inverse associations with CVD risk: adjusted hazard ratio (HR) = 0.79 (95%CI 0.63-0.98); 0.75 (95%CI 0.62-0.92) and 0.81 (95%CI 0.67-0.97) per 1 SD increase respectively. In patients randomised to rosuvastatin, however, on treatment HDL-p was reported to have a stronger inverse association (HR = 0.73, (95%) CI 0.57–0.93) with CVD than HDL-c (HR 0.82, 95%CI 0.63–1.08) or ApoA1 (HR 0.86, 95% CI 0.67-1.10), though the 95% confidence intervals suggest statistical consistency of association between the three biomarkers within each group and also between the two randomised groups. HDL-size was not notably associated with CVD in either group. HDL-p remained associated with CVD after adjusting for HDL-c (HR 0.72 (95%CI 0.53-0.97)). This suggests HDL-p may be a better biomarker for residual risk

in statin-treated patients than HDL-c or ApoA1. As with other studies in this field this requires further replication.

4. Effect of lifestyle intervention and Metformin on lipids. In the Diabetes Prevention Programme (DPP), participants were randomly assigned to one of three interventions: metformin. placebo or lifestyle intervention [43]. The effect on lipoprotein measures in a subset of these patients was performed using the LipoScience platform. A total of 1654 paired samples (baseline and 1 year post-intervention) were available from the three treatment groups. In the minimally adjusted model (age, sex and ethnicity), metformin (compared to placebo) slightly increased small and large HDL-p, large LDL-p and LDL-size ($R^2 = 0.5\%$, 0.9%, 0.3% and 0.5% respectively); slightly decreased small LDL-p $(R^2 = 0.6\%)$ and had no statistically significant (at the conventional 5% level) effect on large VLDL-p. In contrast, lifestyle intervention (compared to the placebo arm) raised large HDL-p, large LDL-p and LDL-size ($R^2 = 4\%$, 1%, and 3.4% respectively) and lowered small HDL-p, small LDL-p and large VLDL-p ($R^2 = 2.1\%$, 3.9% and 1.9% respectively). The decrease in BMI due to metformin or lifestyle intervention, which resulted in decreased insulin resistance and increased adiponectin concentration, accounted for a varying degree of change in some of the lipoprotein measures. Supplementary analysis, adjusting for age, sex, race, adiponectin, body mass index (BMI) and insulin resistance (HOMA-IR), were performed to allow better comparison between the groups and to identify the extent to which changes were independent of weight loss. The results suggested that the intervention effects on BMI contributed importantly to the changes in lipoprotein particle sizes with the possible exception of the effect of metformin on small HDL-p. Although interesting, the clinical relevance of these relatively small changes in lipids requires further clarification.

The foregoing narrative overview of relevant ¹H NMR studies clearly shows a need for expansion and validation of work in other cohorts. These suggest the potential of this approach but highlight the early stage of NMR metabolomics-CVD research meaning that currently available results do not provide sufficient evidence to influence clinical care.

4. Other considerations

4.1. Accurate quantitation and standardisation

For ¹H NMR measures to be used for risk prediction, monitoring and setting treatment goals it needs to be shown that the methodology and computational spectral interpretation are precise, accurate, robust and validated. For epidemiology and clinical research, absolute concentration, preferably in SI units, would be helpful. This allows studies from multiple groups to be easily collated for example for meta-analysis. These concentrations must be traceable and if there is systematic error this must be highlighted so that researchers are able to account for differences in their analyses compared to previous studies by other methods.

This is equally important for ALP. The density of lipoproteins is a continuum; lipoprotein remodelling is a dynamic process [33]. Lipoprotein subclass size varies between research groups, as does the number of subclasses reported, as categorisation of the lipoprotein subclasses is method dependent [57]. This makes it difficult to compare the results of different studies. This lack of standardisation of methods has been described as one of the biggest barriers to the translation of ALP to the clinic [33]. In 2011, Rosenson et al. [58] proposed the development of a standardised nomenclature for HDL subfractions (VL, L, M, S and VS). They describe how this can be used for multiple methods despite them being based on differing

physiochemical properties of HDL, however consensus appears some way off.

The benefit of ALP to improve clinical care in a cost-effective way needs to be demonstrated before entry into clinical practice; whilst some support has been given for quantifying LDL-p in the US [15,45], in most European health care systems this is not the case and we would support waiting for clearer evidence that cost benefit is obtained.

4.2. Cost-effective and high-throughput

For large studies with thousands of samples, methods that can achieve high throughput of quality information at low cost are important. ¹H NMR methods, such as the Finnish method, have been described as high-throughput and potentially cost-effective [54].

The FDA approved LipoProfile test (LDL-p, HDL-c and TG) is now available to the clinical laboratory as the Vantera Clinical Analyser (Agilent Technologies Inc) [33,59]. This 400 MHz ¹H NMR has been adapted to easily fit in with routine chemistry sample handling, has built-in sample preparation and spectral deconvolution. The approval of the Vantera will help to make LDL-p a more easily available test, however its capital cost will still limit its availability [49].

5. Mass spectrometry (MS)

5.1. The theoretical basis of MS

MS analysis is based on the detection of ionised molecules and measurement of their mass to charge (m/z) ratio (Fig. 3). Preseparation techniques such as capillary electrophoresis (CE) [60], gas chromatography (GC) [61] or liquid chromatography (LC) [62] are routinely used. These separate molecules according to their physio-chemical properties: for example how well they interact with the stationary phase of the column determines how fast they are eluted from the column (their retention time or index). This added information can be used in combination with the m/z ratio to better identify the metabolites. Another advantage is that instead of infusing a continuous mixture of metabolites into the MS, the eluent from the column is infused over time, meaning that different metabolites are separated because they will be eluted at different times depending on their retention on the column. This reduces the number of different metabolites detected at any time point making the spectra less complex and allowing more sensitive detection of individual peaks (high concentration metabolites are less likely to suppress the signals of low concentration metabolites). This is important because the complexity of biological matrices such as serum is very high. MS is capable of simultaneous detection of very large numbers of metabolites (100s–1000s in some studies) [60].

A typical three-dimensional plot of an untargeted serum MS metabolomics experiment (Fig. 4) depicts the separation of metabolites by their retention time (*x*-axis) and m/z ratio (*z*-axis). The abundance of each peak is presented on the *y*-axis. It is important to note that the abundances of the peaks cannot be directly used to provide absolute quantification (see below).

6. ¹H NMR versus MS

¹H NMR and MS are generally described as complementary techniques; they each have benefits and limitations (Table 3). The question of which to use depends on the research (or clinical) objective, the techniques available, the samples themselves and other practical considerations (sample volume, budget). In some



Fig. 3. Simplified diagram of a mass spectrometer. Sample, usually in liquid form and eluted from a chromatography instrument, is sprayed using a charged needle and desolvation gas into the high-vacuum interior of the mass spectrometer. Once inside ions may be filtered or separated using a variety of techniques before interacting with a detector. Once separated and detected, a spectrum is produced, graphing mass-to-charge (m/z) ratio versus the intensity of each ion detected.



Fig. 4. Three-dimensional plot of a typical serum metabolome analysis by untargeted LC-MS. The most intense (in relative abundance on *y*-axis) peaks elute at between 8 and 12 min (*x*-axis) of the separation. The peaks are separated by their m/z ratio (*z*-axis). Smaller peaks can be observed scattered throughout the analysis. Light grey streaks can be observed crossing the entire duration of the run – these are omnipresent contaminants and can be used for internal calibration. No internal standards are included in this analysis. However, external calibration mix is run several times during a batch.

Table 3

Comparison of ¹H NMR and MS.

	¹ H NMR	Mass spectrometry
Sample volume	Moderate: 200–400 μL	Small: 10–50 μL
Sample preparation	Simple: add buffer	Simple: varies, e.g. chloroform/methanol/water extraction
	(Sometimes deproteinization by organic	
	solvent or ultrafiltration used)	
Automation	Automated sample preparation and analysis possible	Automated sample preparation and analysis possible
Reproducibility	Very good (sample contained with ¹ H NMR tube	Intra- and inter-batch variability has to be corrected
	so does not contaminate the detector)	for using potentially highly complex QC procedures
Quantification	Absolute quantification routine	Relative quantitation routine
		Absolute quantification requires IS specific for each metabolite
Throughput	High throughput (few hundred samples per day possible)	Generally lengthy run times required for LC or GC pre-separation
Sample analysis	Non destructive	Destructive
ALP	Useful for lipoprotein profiling	Requires labour-intensive pre-separation
Cost	Generally cheaper due to high throughput but	Moderate, generally but commercial costs can be very high
	higher capital costs for ¹ H NMR machine	
Identification	Identification generally good	Identification often challenging
Data storage	Manageable data sizes	Large data sizes require lots of data storage
Sensitivity (metabolite dependent)	Lower sensitivity (µM)	Higher sensitivity (nM)
Coverage of the metabolome	Smaller numbers of metabolites identifiable	Huge number of metabolites detectable
	(low 100s) due to sensitivity and spectral overlap issues	(100s - 1000s)

Main benefits and limitations of ¹H NMR and MS, in terms of specific attributes, are listed [2,99]. Note that the summary information provided varies depending on the precise methods of each technique used (see Griffin et al., 2011 [100] for more detailed examples).

cases both MS and ¹H NMR have been used together to give a comprehensive metabolomic output [63].

The advantages of using ¹H NMR for metabolomics are that it is high-throughput and can be described as a universal detector [64,65], as most metabolites have a measurable proton. No chromatographic pre-separation or sample derivatization is required. Together these make ¹H NMR metabolomics particularly suitable for large-scale epidemiological studies, and routine clinical analysis.

MS is the most sensitive, broad-based method for metabolomics. However, the technique has limitations that have not yet been overcome and that provide challenges for its widespread application to clinical research. These key issues for accurate identification and quantification of large number of metabolites, and how these differ between ¹H NMR and MS are discussed in more detail below. However, we note that this is a rapidly advancing field with developments to both methods likely to emerge in the short- to medium-term, which will likely reduce these limitations.

- 1. Relative or absolute quantitation: the varying susceptibility of ionisation of each metabolite in MS leads to a specific sensitivity for each molecule, such that the abundance of one metabolite cannot be directly compared to another. Sample to sample comparison of intensity is feasible, and for this reason, relative quantitation (rather than absolute quantitation) is the most common output for MS metabolomic analysis. Absolute quantitation is routinely achieved in MS by the use of a stable isotope labelled IS for each metabolite to be quantified. Kits are available which include multiple IS for quantification, for example the Biocrates kits [66]. However, these are comparatively expensive. ¹H NMR is an inherently quantitative method, although in practice accurate quantitation requires careful methodological implementation [67]. Importantly, in ¹H NMR one is always measuring the same variable – the 1 H signal. Therefore only one IS, for example TMS, is required for all metabolites.
- 2. **Unambiguous metabolite identification**: One limitation of MS is that, in basing identification of a metabolite on the mass of a compound alone, ambiguous identifications are common. Stringent criteria for metabolite identification [5] state that a metabolite should not be referred to as an "identified metabolite" (as opposed to an "annotated metabolite") unless two or more orthogonal (based on differing properties e.g. retention time, m/z ratio and fragmentation pattern) pieces of data match that of an authentic standard. Perhaps the most unique and important feature of ¹H NMR is that it provides structural information, the chemical shift is dependent on the chemical environment of the ¹H, which is essentially its molecular structure. However, ambiguous identification can still be a problem, particularly if some resonances are overlapping [68].
- 3. Inter- and intra-batch variability: MS, unlike ¹H NMR, requires the sample to physically interact with the instrument. This leads to the build-up of contaminants in the instrument, which can affect the sensitivity. The most effective way of correcting for inter- and intra-batch variation requires the periodic injection of a common pooled sample - a mixture of all the samples in the study [69]. It is then possible to track the variation of signal for any metabolite during the period of analysis and correct for any variation. By contrast, ¹H NMR has proven reproducible, making it highly suited to large-scale epidemiological studies [70]. Nevertheless, care must be taken in order to achieve this reproducibility (as discussed earlier, sample collection and storage, temperature and other variables must be controlled).
- 4. **Sensitivity**: In comparison to MS, ¹H NMR is less sensitive. MS sensitivity depends on the method, instrument, sample type

and analyte. Most detection limits are in the nanomolar ranges [71], thus allowing hundreds to thousands of compounds to be detected in a single analysis for high-throughput clinical analysis [69]. The sensitivity of ¹H NMR is also dependent on the method, instrument, sample and analyte [64,72,73]. Cryoprobes and microcoil probes are increasingly used in ¹H NMR metabolomics to increase the sensitivity [74,75]. In qNMR sensitivities are normally quoted in the micro-to millimolar range and the number of metabolites detected is normally in the low hundreds [30,34].

5. **Sample volume**: In comparison to MS, which generally requires only approximately $10-50 \ \mu$ L, ¹H NMR sample requirements are much higher. A 5 mm ¹H NMR tube requires approximately $500-600 \ \mu$ L of sample [30] – this volume includes the buffer used so the serum/plasma requirement is typically $200-400 \ \mu$ L. Excessive sample dilution should be avoided due to the sensitivity issues discussed. Microcoil probes are able to analyse approximately $5-30 \ \mu$ L of sample [75,76].

7. Conclusion

¹H-NMR metabolomics now enables the rapid and accurate measurements of many more metabolites than was previously possible using routine biochemical methods, including detailed analysis of lipoproteins, fatty acids and other metabolic parameters. Whilst MS can measure more metabolites than ¹H NMR, further work to improve its quality control aspects particularly across batches is needed. The widening availability of ¹H NMR instruments has led to a rising number of publications in the cardiovascular and metabolic arena, with preliminary evidence that novel lipoprotein measures and metabolites may improve risk prediction of cardio-metabolic disease. While these findings are of interest, they are preliminary and future work is needed to thoroughly assess the clinical and scientific utility of ¹H NMR spectrometers for predicting disease. In particular, the exploitation of ¹H NMR metabolomics in larger, prospective observational and intervention studies with meaningful clinical endpoints and large-scale replication is needed. In all such cases, researchers should be cognisant of using robust statistical approaches and should ensure that they compare risk prediction including ¹H NMR metabolomics to the best available risk prediction algorithms. Parallel work using genetics is needed to tease out potential causal pathways [77]).

Disclosure

Conflicts of interest: the authors declare they have no conflict of interests.

Acknowledgements

We acknowledge funding from the Wellcome Trust; the Wellcome Trust Institutional Strategic Support Fund (ISSF) (WT097821MF) and the EU/EFPIA Innovative Medicines Initiative Joint Undertaking (EMIF grant number 115372). NR is supported by the Chest, Heart and Stroke Association (R13/A149). PW is supported by BHF fellowship FS/12/62/29889. DAL's contribution to this paper was supported by the Medical Research Council (MC_UU_12013/5).

References

[1] Wishart DS, Tzur D, Knox C, Eisner R, Guo AC, Young N, Cheng D, Jewell K, Arndt D, Sawhney S, Fung C, Nikolai L, Lewis M, Coutouly MA, Forsythe I, Tang P, Shrivastava S, Jeroncic K, Stothard P, Amegbey G, Block D, Hau DD, Wagner J, Miniaci J, Clements M, Gebremedhin M, Guo N, Zhang Y, Duggan GE, MacInnis GD, Weljie AM, Dowlatabadi R, Bamforth F, Clive D, Greiner R, Li L, Marrie T, Sykes BD, Vogel HJ, Querengesser L. HMDB: the human metabolome database. Nucleic Acids Res. 2007;35:D521-6. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1093/Nar/Gkl923 (published online Epub Jan).

- [2] Psychogios N, Hau DD, Peng J, Guo AC, Mandal R, Bouatra S, Sinelnikov I, Krishnamurthy R, Eisner R, Gautam B, Young N, Xia JG, Knox C, Dong E, Huang P, Hollander Z, Pedersen TL, Smith SR, Bamforth F, Greiner R, McManus B, Newman JW, Goodfriend T, Wishart DS. The human serum metabolome. Plos One 2011;6 (published online Epub Feb 16 (ARTN e16957 DOI 10.1371/journal.pone.0016957)).
- [3] Herder C. Karakas M. Koenig W. Biomarkers for the prediction of type 2 diabetes and cardiovascular disease. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 2011;90:52–66. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/clpt.2011.93 (published online Epub Jul).
- [4] Rhee EP, Gerszten RE. Metabolomics and cardiovascular biomarker discov-2012;58:139-47. Clin. Chem. http://dx.doi.org/10.1373/clinerv. chem.2011.169573 (published online Epub Jan).
- Sumner LW, Amberg A, Barrett D, Beale MH, Beger R, Daykin CA, Fan TW-M, Fiehn O, Goodacre R, Griffin JL. Proposed minimum reporting standards for chemical analysis. Metabolomics 2007:3:211–21.
- Lei Z, Huhman DV, Sumner LW. Mass spectrometry strategies in metab-[6] olomics. J. Biol. Chem. 2011;286:25435-42. http://dx.doi.org/10.1074/ bc.R111.238691 (published online Epub Jul 22).
- [7] Patti GJ, Yanes O, Siuzdak G. Innovation: metabolomics: the apogee of the omics trilogy. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell. Biol. 2012;13:263-9. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1038/nrm3314 (published online Epub Apr).
- [8] Heather LC, Wang X, West JA, Griffin JL. A practical guide to metabolomic profiling as a discovery tool for human heart disease. J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 2013;55:2-11. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.yjmcc.2012.12.001 (published online Epub Feb).
- [9] Nicholson JK, Holmes E, Kinross JM, Darzi AW, Takats Z, Lindon JC. Metabolic phenotyping in clinical and surgical environments. Nature 2012;491:384-92. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature11708 (published online Epub Nov 15). World Health Organization Media Centre. The Top 10 Causes of Death. 2013. Goonewardena SN, Prevette LE, Desai AA. Metabolomics and atherosclerosis.
- [11] Curr. Atheroscler. Rep. 2010;12:267-72. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11883-010-0112-9 (published online Epub Jul).
- [12] Goff Jr DC, Lloyd-Jones DM, Bennett G, Coady S, D'Agostino Sr RB, Gibbons R, Greenland P, Lackland DT, Levy D, O'Donnell CJ, Robinson JG, Schwartz JS, Shero ST, Smith Jr SC, Sorlie P, Stone NJ, Wilson PW, G. American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice. ACC/AHA guideline on the assessment of cardiovascular risk: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 2013;63:2935-59. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ jacc.2013.11.005. 2014 (published online Epub Jul 1).
- [13] Martinez-Pinna R, Barbas C, Blanco-Colio LM, Tunon J, Ramos-Mozo P, Lopez JA, Meilhac O, Michel JB, Egido J, Martin-Ventura JL. Proteomic and metabolomic profiles in atherothrombotic vascular disease. Curr. Atheroscler. Rep. 2010;12:202-8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11883-010-0102-y (published online Epub May).
- [14] Waterman CL, Kian-Kai C, Griffin JL. Metabolomic strategies to study lipotoxicity in cardiovascular disease. Biochim. Biophys. Acta 2010;1801: 230-4. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbalip.2009.11.004 (published online Epub Mar).
- [15] Folse HJ, Goswami D, Rengarajan B, Budoff M, Kahn R. Clinical- and costeffectiveness of LDL particle-guided statin therapy: a simulation study. Atherosclerosis 2014;236:154-61 (published online Epub 9), http://dx.doi org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.06.027.
- [16] Ala-Korpela M, Kangas AJ, Soininen P. Quantitative high-throughput metabolomics: a new era in epidemiology and genetics. Genome Med. 2012;4:36. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/gm335.
- [17] Bothwell JH, Griffin JL. An introduction to biological nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Biol. Rev. Camb. Philos. Soc. 2011;86:493-510. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-185X.2010.00157.x (published online Epub May).
- Ernst RR, Anderson WA. Application of Fourier transform spectroscopy to [18] magnetic resonance. Rev. Sci. Instrum. 1966;37:93-102. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1063/1.1719961
- [19] Meiboom S, Gill D. Modified spin-echo method for measuring nuclear relaxation times. Rev. Sci. Instrum. 1958;29:688–91. http://dx.doi.org/10. 1063/1.1716296
- [20] Bictash M, Ebbels TM, Chan Q, Loo RL, Yap IK, Brown IJ, de Iorio M, Daviglus ML, Holmes E, Stamler J, Nicholson JK, Elliott P. Opening up the "Black Box": metabolic phenotyping and metabolome-wide association studies in epidemiology. J. Clin. Epidemiol. 2010;63:970-9. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.10.001 (published online Epub Sep).
- [21] Teahan O, Gamble S, Holmes E, Waxman J, Nicholson JK, Bevan C, Keun HC. Impact of analytical bias in metabonomic studies of human blood serum and plasma. Anal. Chem. 2006;78:4307-18. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/ ac051972y (published online Epub Jul 1).
- [22] Bernini P, Bertini I, Luchinat C, Nincheri P, Staderini S, Turano P. Standard operating procedures for pre-analytical handling of blood and urine for metabolomic studies and biobanks. J. Biomol. Nmr 2011;49:231-43. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10858-011-9489-1 (published online Epub Apr).
- [23] Pinto J, Domingues MR, Galhano E, Pita C, Almeida Mdo C, Carreira IM, Gil AM. Human plasma stability during handling and storage: impact on

NMR metabolomics. Analyst 2014;139:1168-77. http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/ c3an02188b (published online Epub Mar 7).

- [24] Barton RH, Waterman D, Bonner FW, Holmes E, Clarke R, Procardis C, Nicholson JK, Lindon JC. The influence of EDTA and citrate anticoagulant addition to human plasma on information recovery from NMR-based metabolic profiling studies. Mol. Biosyst. 2010;6:215-24. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1039/b907021d (published online Epub Jan).
- [25] Lutz NW, Sweedler JV, Wevers RA. Methodologies for Metabolomics: Experimental Strategies and Techniques, Cambridge University Press: 2013.
- [26] Dumas ME, Kinross J, Nicholson JK. Metabolic phenotyping and systems biology approaches to understanding metabolic syndrome and fatty liver disease. Gastroenterology 2014;146:46-62. http://dx.doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2013.11.001 (published online Epub Jan).
- [27] Bodi V, Sanchis J, Morales JM, Marrachelli VG, Nunez J, Forteza MJ, Chaustre F, Gomez C, Mainar L, Minana G, Rumiz E, Husser O, Noguera I, Diaz A, Moratal D, Carratala A, Bosch X, Llacer A, Chorro FJ, Vina JR, Monleon D. Metabolomic profile of human myocardial ischemia by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy of peripheral blood serum: a translational study based on transient coronary occlusion models. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 2012;59:1629-41. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2011.09.083 (published online Epub May 1).
- [28] Du Z, Shen A, Huang Y, Su L, Lai W, Wang P, Xie Z, Xie Z, Zeng Q, Ren H, Xu D. ¹H-NMR-based metabolic analysis of human serum reveals novel markers of myocardial energy expenditure in heart failure patients. Plos One 2014;9: e88102. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0088102.
- [29] Madsen R, Lundstedt T, Trygg J. Chemometrics in metabolomics-a review in human disease diagnosis. Anal. Chim. Acta 2010;659:23–33. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.aca.2009.11.042 (published online Epub Feb 5).
- [30] Wishart DS. Quantitative metabolomics using NMR. Trac-Trend Anal. Chem. 2008;27:228-37. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/J.Trac.2007.12.001 (published online Epub Mar).
- Gerszten RE, Wang TJ. The search for new cardiovascular biomarkers. Nature [31] 2008;451:949-52. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nature06802 (published online Epub Feb 21).
- [32] Kirschenlohr HL, Griffin JL, Clarke SC, Rhydwen R, Grace AA, Schofield PM, Brindle KM, Metcalfe JC. Proton NMR analysis of plasma is a weak predictor of coronary artery disease. Nat. Med. 2006;12:705-10. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1038/nm1432 (published online Epub Jun).
- [33] Mallol R, Rodriguez MA, Brezmes J, Masana L, Correig X. Human serum/ plasma lipoprotein analysis by NMR: application to the study of diabetic dyslipidemia. Prog. Nucl. Magn. Reson. Spectrosc. 2013;70:1-24. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pnmrs.2012.09.001 (published online Epub Apr).
- [34] Kettunen J, Tukiainen T, Sarin AP, Ortega-Alonso A, Tikkanen E, Lyytikainen LP, Kangas AJ, Soininen P, Wurtz P, Silander K, Dick DM, Rose RJ, Savolainen MJ, Viikari J, Kahonen M, Lehtimaki T, Pietilainen KH, Inouye M, McCarthy MI, Jula A, Eriksson J, Raitakari OT, Salomaa V, Kaprio J, Jarvelin MR, Peltonen L, Perola M, Freimer NB, Ala-Korpela M, Palotie A, Ripatti S. Genome-wide association study identifies multiple loci influencing human serum metabolite levels. Nat. Genet. 2012;44:269-76. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1038/ng.1073 (published online Epub Mar).
- [35] Soininen P, Kangas AJ, Wurtz P, Tukiainen T, Tynkkynen T, Laatikainen R, Jarvelin MR, Kahonen M, Lehtimaki T, Viikari J, Raitakari OT, Savolainen MJ, Ala-Korpela M. High-throughput serum NMR metabonomics for costeffective holistic studies on systemic metabolism. Analyst 2009;134: 1781-5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1039/b910205a (published online Epub Sep).
- [36] Emerging Risk Factors Collaboration, Di Angelantonio E, Sarwar N, Perry P, Kaptoge S, Ray KK, Thompson A, Wood AM, Lewington S, Sattar N, Packard CJ, Collins R, Thompson SG, Danesh J. Major lipids, apolipoproteins, and risk of vascular disease. J. Am. Med. Assoc. 2009;302:1993-2000. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1001/jama.2009.1619 (published online Epub Nov 11).
- [37] Otvos JD, Mora S, Shalaurova I, Greenland P, Mackey RH, Goff Jr DC. Clinical implications of discordance between low-density lipoprotein cholesterol and particle number. J. Clin. Lipidol. 2011;5:105-13. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ jacl.2011.02.001 (published online Epub Mar-Apr).
- [38] Mora S. Advanced lipoprotein testing and subfractionation are not (yet) ready for routine clinical use. Circulation 2009;119:2396-404. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.108.819359 (published online Epub May 5).
- [39] Superko HR, Pendyala L, Williams PT, Momary KM, King 3rd SB, Garrett BC. High-density lipoprotein subclasses and their relationship to cardiovascular disease. J. Clin. Lipidol. 2012;6:496-523. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ jacl.2012.03.001 (published online Epub Nov-Dec).
- [40] Hiltunen Y, Ala-Korpela M, Jokisaari J, Eskelinen S, Kiviniitty K, Savolainen M, Kesaniemi YA. A lineshape fitting model for 1H NMR spectra of human blood plasma. Magn. Reson. Med. 1991;21:222-32 (published online Epub Oct).
- [41] Otvos JD, Jeyarajah EJ, Bennett DW. Quantification of plasma lipoproteins by proton nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Clin. Chem. 1991;37: 377–86 (published online Epub Mar).
- [42] Inouye M, Kettunen J, Soininen P, Silander K, Ripatti S, Kumpula LS, Hamalainen E, Jousilahti P, Kangas AJ, Mannisto S, Savolainen MJ, Jula A, Leiviska J, Palotie A, Salomaa V, Perola M, Ala-Korpela M, Peltonen L. Metabonomic, transcriptomic, and genomic variation of a population cohort. Mol. Syst. Biol. 2010;6:441. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/msb.2010.93 (published online Epub Dec 21).

- [43] Goldberg R, Temprosa M, Otvos J, Brunzell J, Marcovina S, Mather K, Arakaki R, Watson K, Horton E, Barrett-Connor E. Lifestyle and metformin treatment favorably influence lipoprotein subfraction distribution in the Diabetes Prevention Program. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 2013;98:3989–98. http://dx.doi.org/10.1210/jc.2013-1452 (published online Epub Oct).
- [44] Jeyarajah EJ, Cromwell WC, Otvos JD. Lipoprotein particle analysis by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy. Clin. Lab. Med. 2006;26:847-70. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.cll.2006.07.006 (published online Epub Dec).
- [45] US Food and Drug Administration Office of In Vitro Diagnostic Device Evaluation and Safety. K063841 NMR Profiler and NMR Lipo Profile Test. 2008. http://www.accessdata.fda.gov/cdrh_docs/pdf6/K063841.pdf.
- [46] Caulfield MP, Li S, Lee G, Blanche PJ, Salameh WA, Benner WH, Reitz RE, Krauss RM. Direct determination of lipoprotein particle sizes and concentrations by ion mobility analysis. Clin. Chem. 2008;54:1307–16. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2007.100586 (published online Epub Aug).
 [47] Musunuru K, Orho-Melander M, Caulfield MP, Li S, Salameh WA, Reitz RE,
- [47] Musunuru K, Orho-Melander M, Caulheld MP, Li S, Salameh WA, Keitz RE, Berglund G, Hedblad B, Engstrom G, Williams PT, Kathiresan S, Melander O, Krauss RM. Ion mobility analysis of lipoprotein subfractions identifies three independent axes of cardiovascular risk. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 2009;29:1975–80. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.109.190405 (published online Epub Nov).
- [48] Otvos JD, Rudel LL, McConnell JP. Concerns regarding lipoprotein particle measurement by ion mobility analysis. author reply 2088–2089 Clin. Chem. 2008;54:2086–7. http://dx.doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2008.113795 (published online Epub Dec).
- [49] Aacc Lipoproteins, Vascular Diseases Division Working Group on Best Practices, Cole TG, Contois JH, Csako G, McConnell JP, Remaley AT, Devaraj S, Hoefner DM, Mallory T, Sethi AA, Warnick GR. Association of apolipoprotein B and nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy-derived LDL particle number with outcomes in 25 clinical studies: assessment by the AACC Lipoprotein and Vascular Diseases Division Working Group on Best Practices. Clin. Chem. 2013;59:752–70. http://dx.doi.org/10.1373/clinchem.2012.196733 (published online Epub May).
- [50] Williams PT, Zhao XQ, Marcovina SM, Otvos JD, Brown BG, Krauss RM. Comparison of four methods of analysis of lipoprotein particle subfractions for their association with angiographic progression of coronary artery disease. Atherosclerosis 2014;233:713–20. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.01.034 (published online Epub Apr).
- [51] Lankinen M, Kolehmainen M, Jaaskelainen T, Paananen J, Joukamo L, Kangas AJ, Soininen P, Poutanen K, Mykkanen H, Gylling H, Oresic M, Jauhiainen M, Ala-Korpela M, Uusitupa M, Schwab U. Effects of whole grain, fish and bilberries on serum metabolic profile and lipid transfer protein activities: a randomized trial (Sysdimet). Plos One 2014;9:e90352. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0090352.
- [52] Tunstall-Pedoe H. Cardiovascular risk and risk scores: ASSIGN, Framingham, QRISK and others: how to choose. Heart 2011;97:442–4. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1136/hrt.2010.214858 (published online Epub Mar).
- [53] Welsh P, Packard CJ, Sattar N. Novel antecedent plasma biomarkers of cardiovascular disease: improved evaluation methods and comparator benchmarks raise the bar. Curr. Opin. Lipidol. 2008;19:563–71. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1097/MOL.0b013e32831551e0 (published online Epub Dec).
- [54] Wurtz P, Raiko JR, Magnussen CG, Soininen P, Kangas AJ, Tynkkynen T, Thomson R, Laatikainen R, Savolainen MJ, Laurikka J, Kuukasjarvi P, Tarkka M, Karhunen PJ, Jula A, Viikari JS, Kahonen M, Lehtimaki T, Juonala M, Ala-Korpela M, Raitakari OT. High-throughput quantification of circulating metabolites improves prediction of subclinical atherosclerosis. Eur. Heart J. 2012;33:2307–16. http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehs020 (published online Epub Sep).
- [55] El Harchaoui K, Arsenault BJ, Franssen R, Despres JP, Hovingh GK, Stroes ES, Otvos JD, Wareham NJ, Kastelein JJ, Khaw KT, Boekholdt SM. High-density lipoprotein particle size and concentration and coronary risk. Ann. Intern. Med. 2009;150:84–93 (published online Epub Jan 20).
- [56] Mora S, Glynn RJ, Ridker PM. High-density lipoprotein cholesterol, size, particle number, and residual vascular risk after potent statin therapy. Circulation 2013;128:1189–97. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/CIRCU-LATIONAHA.113.002671 (published online Epub Sep 10).
- [57] Mora S, Otvos JD, Rifai N, Rosenson RS, Buring JE, Ridker PM. Lipoprotein particle profiles by nuclear magnetic resonance compared with standard lipids and apolipoproteins in predicting incident cardiovascular disease in women. Circulation 2009;119:931-9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/CIRCU-LATIONAHA.108.816181 (published online Epub Feb 24).
- [58] Rosenson RS, Brewer Jr HB, Chapman MJ, Fazio S, Hussain MM, Kontush A, Krauss RM, Otvos JD, Remaley AT, Schaefer EJ. HDL measures, particle heterogeneity, proposed nomenclature, and relation to atherosclerotic cardiovascular events. Clin. Chem. 2011;57:392–410. http://dx.doi.org/10.1373/ clinchem.2010.155333 (published online Epub Mar).
- [59] US Food and Drug Administration Office of In Vitro Diagnostic Device Evaluation and Safety. K113830 Vantera Clinical Analyser. 2012. http://www. accessdata.fda.gov/cdrh_docs/pdf11/K113830.pdf.
- [60] Sawada Y, Akiyama K, Sakata A, Kuwahara A, Otsuki H, Sakurai T, Saito K, Hirai MY. Widely targeted metabolomics based on large-scale MS/MS data for elucidating metabolite accumulation patterns in plants. Plant Cell Physiol. 2009;50:37–47.
- [61] Fiehn O, Kopka J, Dörmann P, Altmann T, Trethewey RN, Willmitzer L. Metabolite profiling for plant functional genomics. Nat. Biotechnol. 2000;18: 1157–61.

- [62] Zelena E, Dunn WB, Broadhurst D, Francis-McIntyre S, Carroll KM, Begley P, O'Hagan S, Knowles JD, Halsall A, Wilson ID. Development of a robust and repeatable UPLC–MS method for the long-term metabolomic study of human serum. Anal. Chem. 2009;81:1357–64.
- [63] Teul J, Ruperez FJ, Garcia A, Vaysse J, Balayssac S, Gilard V, Malet-Martino M, Martin-Ventura JL, Blanco-Colio LM, Tunon J, Egido J, Barbas C. Improving metabolite knowledge in stable atherosclerosis patients by association and correlation of GC-MS and 1H NMR fingerprints. J. Proteome Res. 2009;8: 5580–9. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/pr900668v (published online Epub Dec).
- [64] Barding GA, Salditos R, Larive CK. Quantitative NMR for bioanalysis and metabolomics. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 2012;404:1165–79. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1007/S00216-012-6188-Z (published online Epub Sep).
- [65] Fonville JM, Maher AD, Coen M, Holmes E, Lindon JC, Nicholson JK. Evaluation of full-resolution J-resolved H-1 NMR projections of biofluids for metabonomics information retrieval and biomarker identification. Anal. Chem. 2010;82:1811–21. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/Ac902443k (published online Epub Mar 1).
- [66] Breier M, Wahl S, Prehn C, Fugmann M, Ferrari U, Weise M, Banning F, Seissler J, Grallert H, Adamski J, Lechner A. Targeted metabolomics identifies reliable and stable metabolites in human serum and plasma samples. Plos One 2014;9:e89728. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0089728.
- [67] Tiainen M, Soininen P, Laatikainen R. Quantitative Quantum Mechanical Spectral Analysis (qQMSA) of H NMR spectra of complex mixtures and biofluids. J. Magn. Reson. 2014;242C:67–78. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.jmr.2014.02.008 (published online Epub Feb 18).
- [68] Robinette SL, Bruschweiler R, Schroeder FC, Edison AS. NMR in metabolomics and natural products research: two sides of the same coin. Accounts Chem. Res. 2012;45:288–97. http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/Ar2001606 (published online Epub Feb).
- [69] Dunn WB, Broadhurst D, Begley P, Zelena E, Francis-McIntyre S, Anderson N, Brown M, Knowles JD, Halsall A, Haselden JN. Procedures for large-scale metabolic profiling of serum and plasma using gas chromatography and liquid chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry. Nat. Protoc. 2011;6: 1060–83.
- [70] Dumas ME, Maibaum EC, Teague C, Ueshima H, Zhou B, Lindon JC, Nicholson JK, Stamler J, Elliott P, Chan Q, Holmes E. Assessment of analytical reproducibility of 1H NMR spectroscopy based metabonomics for large-scale epidemiological research: the INTERMAP Study. Anal. Chem. 2006;78:2199–208. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1021/ac0517085 (published online Epub Apr 1).
- [71] Floegel A, Drogan D, Wang-Sattler R, Prehn C, Illig T, Adamski J, Joost HG, Boeing H, Pischon T. Reliability of serum metabolite concentrations over a 4month period using a targeted metabolomic approach. Plos One 2011;6: e21103. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0021103.
- [72] Beckonert O, Keun HC, Ebbels TM, Bundy J, Holmes E, Lindon JC, Nicholson JK. Metabolic profiling, metabolomic and metabonomic procedures for NMR spectroscopy of urine, plasma, serum and tissue extracts. Nat. Protoc. 2007;2:2692–703. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2007.376.
- [73] Becker ED, Ferretti JA, Gupta RK, Weiss GH. Choice of optimal parameters for measurement of spin-lattice relaxation-times. 2. Comparison of saturation recovery, inversion recovery, and fast inversion recovery experiments. J. Magn. Reson. 1980;37:381–94. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0022-2364(80) 90045-1.
- [74] Griffin JL. Metabonomics: NMR spectroscopy and pattern recognition analysis of body fluids and tissues for characterisation of xenobiotic toxicity and disease diagnosis. Curr. Opin. Chem. Biol. 2003;7:648–54. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/J.Cbpa.2003.08.008 (published online Epub Oct).
- [75] Grimes JH, O'Connell TM. The application of micro-coil NMR probe technology to metabolomics of urine and serum. J. Biomol. Nmr 2011;49: 297–305. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10858-011-9488-2 (published online Epub Apr).
- [76] Malet-Martino M, Holzgrabe U. NMR techniques in biomedical and pharmaceutical analysis. J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 2011;55:1–15. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jpba.2010.12.023 (published online Epub Apr 28).
- [77] Lawlor DA, Harbord RM, Sterne JA, Timpson N, Davey Smith G. Mendelian randomization: using genes as instruments for making causal inferences in epidemiology. Stat. Med. 2008;27:1133–63. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ sim.3034 (published online Epub Apr 15).
- [78] Badeau RM, Honka MJ, Lautamaki R, Stewart M, Kangas AJ, Soininen P, Ala-Korpela M, Nuutila P. Systemic metabolic markers and myocardial glucose uptake in type 2 diabetic and coronary artery disease patients treated for 16 weeks with rosiglitazone, a PPAR gamma agonist. Ann. Med. 2014;46:18–23. http://dx.doi.org/10.3109/07853890.2013.853369 (published online Epub Feb).
- [79] Barba I, de Leon G, Martin E, Cuevas A, Aguade S, Candell-Riera J, Barrabes JA, Garcia-Dorado D. Nuclear magnetic resonance-based metabolomics predicts exercise-induced ischemia in patients with suspected coronary artery disease. Magn. Reson. Med. 2008;60:27–32. http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/ mrm.21632 (published online Epub Jul).
- [80] Fischer K, Kettunen J, Würtz P, Haller T, Havulinna AS, Kangas AJ, Soininen P, Esko T, Tammesoo M-L, Mägi R. Biomarker profiling by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy for the prediction of all-cause mortality: an observational study of 17,345 persons. PLOS Med. 2014;11:e1001606.
- [81] Kujala UM, Makinen VP, Heinonen I, Soininen P, Kangas AJ, Leskinen TH, Rahkila P, Wurtz P, Kovanen V, Cheng S, Sipila S, Hirvensalo M, Telama R, Tammelin T, Savolainen MJ, Pouta A, O'Reilly PF, Mantyselka P, Viikari J,

Kahonen M, Lehtimaki T, Elliott P, Vanhala MJ, Raitakari OT, Jarvelin MR, Kaprio J, Kainulainen H, Ala-Korpela M. Long-term leisure-time physical activity and serum metabolome. Circulation 2013;127:340–8. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.112.105551 (published online Epub Jan 22).

- [82] Skilton MR, Mikkila V, Wurtz P, Ala-Korpela M, Sim KA, Soininen P, Kangas AJ, Viikari JS, Juonala M, Laitinen T, Lehtimaki T, Taittonen L, Kahonen M, Celermajer DS, Raitakari OT. Fetal growth, omega-3 (n-3) fatty acids, and progression of subclinical atherosclerosis: preventing fetal origins of disease? The Cardiovascular Risk in Young Finns Study. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 2013;97:58–65. http://dx.doi.org/10.3945/ajcn.112.044198 (published online Epub Jan).
- [83] Jung JY, Lee HS, Kang DG, Kim NS, Cha MH, Bang OS, Ryu do H, Hwang GS. ¹H-NMR-based metabolomics study of cerebral infarction. Stroke 2011;42: 1282–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/STROKEAHA.110.598789 (published online Epub May).
- [84] De Meyer T, Sinnaeve D, Van Gasse B, Tsiporkova E, Rietzschel ER, De Buyzere ML, Gillebert TC, Bekaert S, Martins JC, Van Criekinge W. NMR-based characterization of metabolic alterations in hypertension using an adaptive, intelligent binning algorithm. Anal. Chem. 2008;80:3783–90. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1021/ac7025964 (published online Epub May 15).
- [85] Roussel R, Mentre F, Bouchemal N, Hadjadj S, Lievre M, Chatellier G, Menard J, Panhard X, Le Henanff A, Marre M, Le Moyec L, Group DS. NMRbased prediction of cardiovascular risk in diabetes. Nat. Med. 2007;13: 399–400. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nm0407-399 (published online Epub Apr).
- [86] Erkkila AT, Schwab US, Lehto S, de Mello VD, Kangas AJ, Soininen P, Ala-Korpela M, Uusitupa MI. Effect of fatty and lean fish intake on lipoprotein subclasses in subjects with coronary heart disease: a controlled trial. J. Clin. Lipidol. 2014;8:126–33. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jacl.2013.09.007 (published online Epub Jan-Feb).
- [87] Parish S, Offer A, Clarke R, Hopewell JC, Hill MR, Otvos JD, Armitage J, Collins R, G. Heart Protection Study Collaborative. Lipids and lipoproteins and risk of different vascular events in the MRC/BHF Heart Protection Study. Circulation 2012;125:2469–78. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/CIRCU-LATIONAHA.111.073684 (published online Epub May 22).
- [88] Hsia J, Otvos JD, Rossouw JE, Wu L, Wassertheil-Smoller S, Hendrix SL, Robinson JG, Lund B, Kuller LH, G. Women's Health Initiative Research. Lipoprotein particle concentrations may explain the absence of coronary protection in the women's health initiative hormone trials. Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol. 2008;28:1666–71. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/ATV-BAHA.108.170431 (published online Epub Sep).
- [89] Otvos JD, Collins D, Freedman DS, Shalaurova I, Schaefer EJ, McNamara JR, Bloomfield HE, Robins SJ. Low-density lipoprotein and high-density lipoprotein particle subclasses predict coronary events and are favorably changed by gemfibrozil therapy in the Veterans Affairs High-Density Lipoprotein Intervention Trial. Circulation 2006;113:1556–63. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.105.565135 (published online Epub Mar 28).
- [90] Mora S, Buring JE, Ridker PM. Discordance of low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol with alternative LDL-related measures and future coronary

events. Circulation 2014;129:553–61. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/CIRCU-LATIONAHA.113.005873 (published online Epub Feb 4).

- [91] van Schalkwijk DB, de Graaf AA, Tsivtsivadze E, Parnell LD, van der Werff-van der Vat BJ, van Ommen B, van der Greef J, Ordovas JM. Lipoprotein metabolism indicators improve cardiovascular risk prediction. Plos One 2014;9: e92840. http://dx.doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0092840.
- [92] Mantyselka P, Niskanen L, Kautiainen H, Saltevo J, Wurtz P, Soininen P, Kangas AJ, Ala-Korpela M, Vanhala M. Cross-sectional and longitudinal associations of circulating omega-3 and omega-6 fatty acids with lipoprotein particle concentrations and sizes: population-based cohort study with 6year follow-up. Lipids Health Dis. 2014;13:28. http://dx.doi.org/10.1186/ 1476-511X-13-28.
- [93] Toth PP, Grabner M, Punekar RS, Quimbo RA, Cziraky MJ, Jacobson TA. Cardiovascular risk in patients achieving low-density lipoprotein cholesterol and particle targets. Atherosclerosis 2014;235:585–91. http://dx.doi.org/ 10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2014.05.914 (published online Epub Aug).
- [94] Makinen VP, Soininen P, Kangas AJ, Forsblom C, Tolonen N, Thorn LM, Viikari J, Raitakari OT, Savolainen M, Groop PH, Ala-Korpela M, G. Finnish Diabetic Nephropathy Study. Triglyceride-cholesterol imbalance across lipoprotein subclasses predicts diabetic kidney disease and mortality in type 1 diabetes: the FinnDiane Study. J. Intern. Med. 2013;273:383–95. http:// dx.doi.org/10.1111/joim.12026 (published online Epub Apr).
- [95] Mantyselka P, Kautiainen H, Saltevo J, Wurtz P, Soininen P, Kangas AJ, Ala-Korpela M, Vanhala M. Weight change and lipoprotein particle concentration and particle size: a cohort study with 6.5-year follow-up. Atherosclerosis 2012;223:239–43. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.atherosclerosis.2012.05.005 (published online Epub Jul).
- [96] Mackey RH, Greenland P, Goff Jr DC, Lloyd-Jones D, Sibley CT, Mora S. Highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol and particle concentrations, carotid atherosclerosis, and coronary events: MESA (multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis). J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 2012;60:508–16. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.jacc.2012.03.060 (published online Epub Aug 7).
- [97] Kuller LH, Grandits G, Cohen JD, Neaton JD, Prineas R, G. Multiple Risk Factor Intervention Trial Research. Lipoprotein particles, insulin, adiponectin, Creactive protein and risk of coronary heart disease among men with metabolic syndrome. Atherosclerosis 2007;195:122–8. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/ j.atherosclerosis.2006.09.001 (published online Epub Nov).
- [98] Festa A, Williams K, Hanley AJ, Otvos JD, Goff DC, Wagenknecht LE, Haffner SM. Nuclear magnetic resonance lipoprotein abnormalities in prediabetic subjects in the Insulin Resistance Atherosclerosis Study. Circulation 2005;111:3465–72. http://dx.doi.org/10.1161/CIRCU-LATIONAHA.104.512079 (published online Epub Jun 28).
- [99] Pan ZZ, Raftery D. Comparing and combining NMR spectroscopy and mass spectrometry in metabolomics. Anal. Bioanal. Chem. 2007;387:525-7. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/S00216-006-0687-8 (published online Epub Jan).
- [100] Griffin JL, Atherton H, Shockcor J, Atzori L. Metabolomics as a tool for cardiac research. Nat. Rev. Cardiol. 2011;8:630–43. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/ nrcardio.2011.138 (published online Epub Nov).